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TO: Department of Enforcement 
NASD 

RE: Morgan Stanley DW, Inc., Respondent 
CRD No. 7556 

Pursuant to Rule 9216 of NASD Code of Procedure, Respondent submits this Letter of 
Acceptance, Waiver and Consent ("AWC") for the purpose of proposing a settlement of the 
alleged rule violations described in Part II below. This AWC is submitted on the condition that, 
if accepted, NASD will not bring any future actions against Respondent alleging violations 
based on the same factual findings. 

Respondent understands that: 

1. Submission of this AWC is voluntary and will not resolve this matter unless and 
until it has been reviewed and accepted by NASD's Department of Enforcement 
and National Adjudicatory Council ("NAC") Review Subcommittee or Office of 
Disciplinary Affairs ("ODA"), pursuant to NASD Rule 9216; 

2. If this AWC is not accepted, its submission will not be used as evidence to prove 
any of the allegations against Respondent; and 

3. If accepted: 

a. this AWC will become part of Respondent's permanent disciplinary record 
and may be considered in any future actions brought by NASD or any 
other regulator against it; 

b. this AWC will be made available through NASD's public disclosure 
program in response to public inquiries about Respondent's disciplinary 
record; 

c. NASD may make a public announcement concerning this agreement and 
the subject matter thereof in accordance with NASD Rule 8310 and IM-
8310-2; and 

d. Respondent may not take any action or make or permit to be made any 
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public statement, including in regulatory filings or otherwise, denying, 
directly or indirectly, any allegation in this AWC or create the impression 
that the AWC is without factual basis. Nothing in this provision affects 
Respondent's testimonial obligations or right to take legal or factual 
positions in litigation or other legal proceedings in which NASD is not a 
party. 

Respondent also understands that its experience in the securities industry and disciplinary 
history may be factors that will be considered in deciding whether to accept this AWC. That 
experience and history are as follows: 

Morgan Stanley DW inc. ("MSDW"), CRD #7556, has been an NASD member 
firm since 1936. The firm, which is headquartered in Purchase, New York, has 
approximately 427 branches and 9,886 Financial Advisors as of May 31, 2005. 

I. 

WAIVER OF PROCEDURAL RIGHTS 

Respondent specifically and voluntarily waives the following rights granted under NASD's Code 
of Procedure: 

A. To have a Formal Complaint issued specifying the allegations against 
Respondent; 

B. To be notified of the Formal Complaint and have the opportunity to answer the 
allegations in writing; 

C. To defend against the allegations in a disciplinary hearing before a hearing 
panel, to have a written record of the hearing made and to have a written 
decision issued; and 

D. To appeal any such decision to the NAC and then to the U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission and a U.S. Court of Appeals. 

Further, Respondent specifically and voluntarily waives any right to claim bias or prejudgment of 
the General Counsel, the NAC, or any member of the NAC, in connection with such person's or 
body's participation in discussions regarding the terms and conditions of this AWC, or other 
consideration of this AWC, including acceptance or rejection of this AWC. 

Respondent further specifically and voluntarily waives any right to claim that a person violated 
the ex parte prohibitions of Rule 9143 or the separation of functions prohibitions of Rule 9144, 
in connection with such person's or body's participation in discussions regarding the terms and 
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conditions of this AWC, or other consideration of this AWC, including its acceptance or 
rejection. 

II. 

ACCEPTANCE AND CONSENT 

A. Respondent hereby accepts and consents, without admitting or denying the 
allegations or findings, and solely for the purposes of this proceeding and any 
other proceeding brought by or on behalf of NASD, or to which NASD is a party, 
prior to a hearing and without an adjudication of any issue of law or fact, to the 
entry of the following findings by NASD: 

Summary 

MSDW has offered a fee-based brokerage account program, called, "Morgan Stanley 
Choice S M" ("Choice") to its customers since 1996. Customers with Choice accounts pay MSDW 
a fee based on the total value of eligible assets in the account. 

During the period January 1, 2001, to December 31, 2003 {"the review period"), MSDW 
violated NASD Conduct Rules 3010 and 2110 by failing to establish and maintain an adequate 
supervisory system, including written procedures, reasonably designed to review and monitor 
its fee-based brokerage business. The firm advised brokers that a Choice account was not 
appropriate for all customers and instructed them to determine whether a Choice account was 
appropriate for a customer before opening the account. MSDW informed its brokers that 
among the variety of factors to be considered in opening an account is whether a customer's 
anticipated JeveJ of trading activity would justify the quarterly fee. The firm also told its brokers 
that buy-and-hold customers and customers with accounts below $50,000 may not be 
appropriate for Choice accounts. Nevertheless, the firm's system and procedures were not 
reasonably designed to determine whether all of its Choice accounts remained appropriate for 
its customers. 

As a result of deficiencies in MSDW's system and procedures, during the review period, 
MSDW allowed 3,549 customers to continuein Choice without adequately reassessing whether 
the accounts remained appropriate for the customers. These customers either conducted no 
trades in their Choice accounts for at least two consecutive Choice years or had Choice 
accounts where the assets in the account averaged below $25,000 for at least one full year, or 
both. 

During the review period, approximately 2,062 customers conducted no trades in at 
least two consecutive Choice years and paid approximately $5.7 million in Choice fees during 
the Choice years when their accounts were inactive. In addition, there were approximately 
1,818 Choice customers, whose billable asset level averaged below $25,000 for at least one full 
Choice year during the review period. These customers all paid at least the minimum annual 
fee of $1,000, applicable at that time, which represented more than 4% of the assets in their 
Choice accounts during the period when their accounts fell below $25,000. During the years 
that these customers' eligible asset level averaged below $25,000 for at least one full year, they 
paid a total of approximately $2.7 million in Choice fees. Furthermore, approximately 331 of 
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these customers paid fees to MSDW that were in excess of 4% of the average annual assets in 
their Choice accounts, even though they did not conduct any trades in at least two consecutive 
Choice years. 

Background 

Fee-based brokerage accounts are an alternative to traditional commission-based 
accounts. The primary difference is that fee-based customers are charged a fee based on the 
assets held in the account rather than on a transaction basis. 

In 1995, in response to concerns about potential conflicts of interest in the brokerage 
industry, the Securities and Exchange Commission released its Report of the Committee on 
Compensation Practices, commonly known as the "Tully Report." This report described fee-
based accounts as a "best practice" in the industry because they align the customer's and 
broker's interests. In this arrangement, the broker and customer both are motivated to build the 
assets in the customer's account. This is in contrast to the traditional commission-based 
account, in which there is always the risk of temptation for the income-seeking broker to 
attempt to increase the trading activity in a customer's account. The report further advised that 
a fee-based account also may be appropriate "for investors who prefer a consistent and explicit 
monthly or annual charge for services received, and whose level of trading activity is moderate." 
But the report also pointed out that small and low-activity accounts would endure higher costs 
as a fee-based account than as a commission-based account because of the imposed fees. 

As a result of regulatory initiatives by the SEC in 1999 granting a "safe harbor" from the 
registration requirements of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 for broker-dealers based on 
the form of compensation received,1 NASD member firms began offering customers fee-based 
accounts as an alternative to traditional commission-based charges for brokerage services and 
that trend is increasing.2 

In November 2003, NASD released Notice to Members 03-68 ("NTM 03-68"), which 
"remind[ed] members that they must have reasonable grounds for believing that a fee-based 
program is appropriate for a particular customer, taking into account the services provided, 
cost, and customer preferences." 

NTM 03-68 recommends that supervisory procedures for fee-based accounts include a 
periodic review to determine whether the fee-based accounts remain appropriate for their 
respective customers.3 The Notice to Members cautions that a finding that a customer would 
have been billed less in a commission-based account than in a fee-based account is not 
conclusive that the account is inappropriate for that customer. But, in such a case, the firm 
should give careful scrutiny to the account. 

1 See SEC Rel. No. 34-42099, Nov. 4,1999, Certain Broker-Dealers Deemed Not to Be Investment 
Advisers. 
2 See SEC Rel. No. 34-50980, Jan. 6, 2005, Certain Broker-Dealers Deemed Not to Be Investment 
Advisers. 
3 Absent unusual circumstances, NASD recommends conducting such a review annually. NTM 03-68, n. 
8. 
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MSDW's Choice Program 

Beginning in 1996, MSDW rolled out its fee-based account program, called, "Choice." 
By the end of 2001, the firm had 129,630 Choice accounts, holding $19.8 billion in assets. 
These numbers grew by year-end 2002 to 157,143 Choice accounts, holding over $21.2 billion 
in assets. MSDW had 176,274 Choice accounts holding $30.6 billion in assets by the end of 
2003. 

In Choice accounts, the firm charges customers an annual fee based on the total value 
of the eligible assets4 held by the customer. The annual Choice fee varies by the total amount 
and type of assets held in the account. Between January 1, 2001 and December 31, 2003 ("the 
review period"), accounts with eligible assets under $100,000 paid maximum rates of 2.25% on 
equities and 1% on mutual funds, variable annuities, fixed income, and cash. These rates 
decreased incrementally for larger accounts, with the lowest standard rates—a maximum rate 
of .30% on equities and .50% on mutual funds, variable annuities, fixed income, and c a s h -
charged on accounts with assets over $10,000,000. These rates could be discounted by the 
firm, but all Choice accounts—or Choice account groups—regardless of size, paid a minimum 
annual fee of $1,000. In April 2005, MSDW eliminated the minimum annual fee. 

MSDW recognized that fee-based accounts were not appropriate for all investors. The 
firm issued guidance and training materials to its registered representatives, instructing them to 
determine whether a fee-based account was appropriate for a client before opening the 
account. As specified in the firm's Financial Advisor Guide: "Generally, the client's level of 
transactions must justify Choice's ongoing quarterly fee. Before enrolling a client, determine if 
Choice is appropriate." The firm's representatives were advised to consider the following 
factors: 

1. the client's financial history; 
2. historical cost of doing business relative to the customers' assets; 
3. past and expected trading activity and types of transactions; 
4. overall financial circumstances, stated goals and long-term strategy. 

MSDW also informed its representatives that inappropriate investors for Choice 
included: 

1. Clients with long-term buy-and-hold -strategies; 
2. Clients who do not intend on staying in the program a full anniversary year; 
3. Clients who are day traders, market timers, or certain other investment 

professionals; 
4. Clients whose portfolios contain primarily mutual funds. 

All new Choice accounts required branch manager approval prior to opening. MSDW 
typically required a minimum of $50,000 in eligible assets to open a Choice account.5 This was 
consistent with the firm's client account agreement, which, between August 2002 through 

4 "Eligible assets" are those assets, as defined by MSDW in the Choice Client Services Agreement, on 
which a fee will be assessed if held in a Choice account. 
5 Choice accounts cou\6 be "grouped" to reach the $50,000 minimum. If accounts were grouped, the 
minimum annual fee was charged to the group, not the individual accounts. For example, two $25,000 
accounts held by husband and wife could be grouped to meet the $50,000 minimum and the group was 
assessed the $1,000 fee. 
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December 2003, stated: "The minimum initial investment required to enroll in Choice is 
$50,000 in eligible assets. The cost and benefits of Choice may not be appropriate for 
accounts that fall below $50,000." 

MSDW Failed to Establish and Maintain a Supervisory System, 
Including Written Procedures, Reasonably Designed 

to Review and Monitor its Fee-Based Business 

NASD Conduct Rule 3010 requires firms to establish and maintain a supervisory 
system, including written procedures, to supervise the activities of its registered representatives 
and associated persons, that is reasonably designed to achieve compliance with applicable 
securities laws and regulations and NASD Rules. MSDW violated NASD Conduct Rules 3010 
and 2110 by failing to establish and maintain a supervisory system, including written 
procedures, reasonably designed to review and monitor its fee-based brokerage business. 

MSDW recognized and instructed its brokers that Choice accounts were not appropriate 
for certain categories of investors, including buy-and-hold customers and certain accounts that 
fall below $50,000. But the firm's system and procedures were not reasonably designed to 
determine whether Choice accounts remained appropriate for its Choice customers. 

Although the firm's supervisory procedures required branch management approval 
before a Choice account could be opened, the firm's written procedures did not prescribe a 
system for ongoing supervisory review of the appropriateness of Choice accounts until June 
2003. The firm also had a system that allowed its registered representatives and branch 
managers to view the amount of suppressed commissions in Choice accounts—that is, the 
amount of commissions the customer would have paid on the trades if the account were a 
traditional commission paying account. Yet, until June 2003, MSDW did not provide guidance 
to its representatives or managers on when or how often such an analysis should be performed 
and the level of transactions that were appropriate for a Choice account. 

In late 2002, MSDW began generating exception reports that identified accounts that 
may have engaged in insufficient trading to justify the annual Choice fee. The firm, however, 
did not have an adequate system or procedures in place regarding the steps to be taken once 
an account was identified by the report. 

In June 2003, the firm began implementing specific supervisory procedures for 
monitoring Choice accounts. Beginning in December 2003, MSDW's branch managers 
received monthly exception reports based on a suppressed commission to fee ratio for all 
Choice accounts with an anniversary date within that month. At that time, MSDW provided the 
branch managers with specific guidance on the review to be conducted and the specific actions 
to be taken with respect to accounts that appeared on the exception report. Although the firm 
improved its system and procedures, MSDW's system and procedures still were fundamentally 
flawed in that the exception reports failed to capture any accounts that fell below $50,000 in 
assets. Consequently, MSDW had no means to monitor these smaller accounts, which the firm 
recognized might not be appropriate for Choice, through its exception report. 

As a result of MSDW's inadequate system and procedures, during the review period, 
MSDW allowed 3,549 of its Choice customers to continue in Choice without reassessing 
whether the accounts remained appropriate for them. These customers either conducted no 
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trades in their Choice accounts for at least two consecutive Choice years or had Choice 
accounts where the assets in the account averaged below $25,000 for at least one full year, or 
both. 

Approximately 2,062 customers conducted no trades in at least two consecutive Choice 
years and paid approximately $5.7 million in Choice fees during the Choice years when their 
accounts were inactive. Many of these customers had traded previously in their Choice 
accounts. But after these customers went an entire Choice year without trading, the firm's 
system and procedures were not reasonably designed to determine whether they remained 
appropriate for Choice. Consequently, without an adequate supervisory review of their 
particular circumstances, these approximately 2,062 customers remained in Choice for at least 
an additional year, in which they incurred an additional $2.8 million in fees without conducting 
any trades. 

In addition, there were approximately 1,818 Choice customers, whose billable asset 
level averaged below $25,000 for at least one full year during the review period. Due to 
MSDW's inadequate supervisory system, which failed to capture these accounts, there was 
inadequate supervisory review to determine the appropriateness of these accounts remaining in 
the Choice program. These customers all paid at least the minimum annual fee of $1,000, 
applicable at the time, which represented at least 4% of the assets in their Choice accounts. 
This was well in excess of MSDW's stated maximum rate of 2.25%. During the years that 
these customers' average annual eligible asset level fell below $25,000, they paid a total of 
$2.7 million in Choice fees. Furthermore, approximately 331 of these customers paid fees to 
MSDW that were in excess of 4% of the average annual assets in their Choice accounts, even 
though they did not conduct any trades in at least two consecutive Choice years. 

Among the customers who continued in Choice during the review period without having 
the firm reassess the appropriateness of their accounts were: 

• Customer J.W. opened a Choice account in 2000. During the 2001, 2002, and 2003 
Choice years, J.W. conducted no trades in the Choice account and paid MSDW 
$3,000 in Choice fees during the period of inactivity. In a traditional account, J.W. 
would not have paid the firm any commissions during those three years. 

• The average annual eligible assets in Customer P.K.'s Choice account dropped and 
remained below $25,000 for two-consecutive Choice years {2002 and 2003). During 
that period, the average annual billable asset level in P.K.'s account was $9,791 in 
2002 and $5,754 in 2003. Customer P.K. paid the $1,000 minimum annual Choice 
fee each year, which, in 2002 and 2003, represented over 10% and 17%, 
respectively, of the account's average annual asset value. Had P.K. been in a 
traditional account in this same time period, P.K. would have paid $92.51 in 
commissions. 

• Customer J.B. opened a Choice account in November of 1999. The customer 
conducted no trades for the entire review period and paid a total of $3,000 in Choice 
fees. The customer's average annual asset level also dropped in 2002 and 2003 to 
approximately $22,000 and $19,000, respectively. During these two years, the 
customer paid the minimum annual fee, which represented approximately 5% of the 
account's annual asset value. 
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As set forth above, MSDW violated NASD Conduct Rules 3010 and 2110 by failing to 
establish and maintain a supervisory system, including written procedures, reasonably designed 
to review and monitor its fee-based brokerage business. As a result, MSDW allowed 3,549 
customers in their Choice program to continue in Choice without reassessing whether the 
accounts remained appropriate for them. 

B. Respondent also consents to the imposition, at a maximum, of the following 
sanctions: 

1. A censure; 

2. A fine of $1.5 million; 

3. The payment of restitution to 3,549 customers, who were allowed to continue 
in Choice accounts without the firm reassessing whether the accounts 
remained appropriate for them, as listed on Attachment A, which was 
provided to Respondents in electronic format, in the total amount of 
approximately $4,640,582, plus interest at the rate set forth in Section 
6621(a)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code, 26 U.S.C. 6621(a)(2), from 
December 31, 2003, until the date this AWC is accepted by the NAC. 
Satisfactory proof of payment of the restitution or of reasonable and 
documented efforts undertaken to effect restitution shall be provided to 
NASD staff no later than 120 days after acceptance of this AWC. If for any 
reason Respondent cannot locate any customer identified in Attachment A 
after reasonable and documented efforts within such period, or such 
additional period agreed to by the staff, Respondent shall forward any 
undistributed restitution and interest to the appropriate escheat, unclaimed 
property, or abandoned property fund for the state in which the customer is 
last known to have resided. 

The sanctions imposed herein shall be effective on a date set by NASD staff. 

The sanctions set forth above take into account MSDW's demonstrable steps, 
undertaken shortly after NASD's inquiry began, to enhance its system and procedures and 
which led to the firm's identification and removal of large numbers of customers who were not 
appropriate for Choice accounts. 

Jll. 

OTHER MATTERS 

A. Respondent understands that it may attach a Corrective Action Statement to this 
AWC that is a statement of demonstrable corrective steps taken to prevent 
future misconduct. Respondent understands that it may not deny the charges or 
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make any statement that is inconsistent with the AWC in this Statement. This 
Statement does not constitute factual or legal findings by NASD, nor does it 
reflect the views of NASD or its staff. 

B. Respondent agrees to pay any monetary sanctions imposed on it upon notice 
that this AWC has been accepted and that such payments are due and payable 
and has attached an Election of Payment form showing the method by which 
Respondent proposes to pay any fine imposed. 

C. Respondent specifically and voluntarily waives any right to claim that it is unable 
to pay, now or at any time hereafter, any monetary sanction imposed in this 
matter. 

Respondent certifies that it has read and understands all of the provisions of this AWC and has 
been given a full opportunity to ask questions about it, and that no offer, threat, inducement, or 
promise of any kind, other than the terms set forth herein, has been made to induce 
Respondent to submit it. 

Date Morgan Stanley DW, Inc. 

[Name and title] 

Reviewed by: 

Bingham McCutchen LLP 
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Accepted by NASD: 

Date R$fger B. Sfferman, Senior Vice-President 
Enforcement 
Signed on behalf of the Director of ODA, 
by delegated authority 
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